ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Kershaw County
Tanya A. Gee, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

AUG - 4 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

DONNIE R. THIGPEN,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002280

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Susan B. Hackett
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance in derogation of Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights by failing to move to suppress Petitioner's incriminating statement to law enforcement based on the totality of the circumstances, including his level of intoxication?

STATEMENT

On June 20, 2009, there was a triathlon that crossed into parts of Richland and Kershaw Counties. App. 201, l. 20 – App. 202, l. 202. During the biking portion, one of the participants noticed a vehicle off the roadway. App. 202, ll. 3-5. When the police officers assisting with the race examined the car, they found an individual in the passenger's seat. App. 202, ll. 6-10. Those officers contacted the Kershaw County authorities, who responded to the scene around 9:30 in the morning. App. 202, ll. 15-21; App. 207, ll. 10-21. The South Carolina Highway Patrol responded as well. App. 202, ll. 18-25. An officer checked the individual, later identified as Melvin Wright, for a pulse, but found none. App. 218, ll. 1-3.¹ Although no autopsy was performed, a paramedic opined Wright's death was the result of a motor vehicle accident. App. 244, ll. 5-8; App. 274, ll. 11-22.²

The police soon learned that the car was registered to Petitioner and that his address was approximately a half-mile away from the scene of the accident. App. 209, ll. 6-20. Several officers then went to Petitioner's home. App. 213, ll. 10-12. Petitioner met with the officers on his porch. App. 213, ll. 10-21. John Slaten, formerly an officer with the Kershaw County Sheriff's Office, claimed he advised Petitioner of his Miranda³ rights. App. 214, ll. 8-9; App. 292, ll. 4-5. Thereafter, the police questioned Petitioner about the car accident. App. 214, ll. 10-11; App. 292, ll. 5-6. During this interrogation, Petitioner was clearly intoxicated – he “had an odor of alcohol about him, his ability to stand and his speech appeared to be somewhat slurred.”

¹ A paramedic pronounced the individual “dead on arrival.” App. 243, ll. 9-10.

² The coroner went to the accident scene and determined Melvin Wright was deceased. App. 647, ll. 16-24. Although the coroner had no medical training and did not request an autopsy, the coroner told the jury he concluded that Wright died as a result of a “closed head injury.” App. 648, l. 18 – App. 649, l. 9.

³ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

App. 214, ll. 18-21; see also, App. 289, l. 19 – App. 290, l. 17; App. 291, l. 10; App. 313, ll. 7-8 (one officer testifying that Petitioner was “obviously intoxicated”); App. 329, ll. 7-15 (one officer testifying that Petitioner “fit all those brackets” because he had a strong odor of alcohol coming from his person, had bloodshot eyes, and slurred speech). Petitioner’s eyes were “slightly bloodshot” and he “just had the overall appearance of being intoxicated.” App. 291, ll. 10-12; App. 346, ll. 1-3. The officers also observed some injuries to Petitioner’s arm and a cut over his eye. App. 214, ll. 21-24; App. 287, l. 17 – App. 288, l. 5; App. 315, ll. 19-24; App. 330, ll. 5-9 (describing the injuries to Petitioner’s arm as consistent with airbag burns); App. 426, ll. 2-23. Although Petitioner denied driving the car, the police arrested him at 11:29 a.m., charging him with felony DUI. App. 219, ll. 6-9; App. 292, ll. 6-9; App. 293, ll. 15-22; App. 334, ll. 24-25.

Initially, the officers took Petitioner to the scene of the crash. App. 295, ll. 22-23. Then, at 12:40 p.m., the police took Petitioner to the hospital for blood and urine samples. App. 296, ll. 1-2; App. 332, ll. 9-12; App. 335, ll. 3-7; App. 336, ll. 11-12; App. 378, l. 25 – App. 379, l. 23. Days later, on June 25, 2009, a toxicologist examined Petitioner’s blood and determined his blood alcohol level was 0.218. App. 658, ll. 13-15; App. 671, ll. 1-4. According to the toxicologist, a 150-pound male would need to drink eleven beers in one hour to reach .218 blood alcohol level. App. 671, ll. 5-13. He opined that over a five-hour period, that individual would need to consume 16 drinks to reach that level. App. 672, ll. 3-25. Further, he explained if the blood were taken more than seven hours after the person quit drinking and the level were at .218, then the person would have to consume over twenty alcoholic beverages. App. 673, ll. 1-21. The toxicologist further explained that even after a person stops consuming alcohol, between thirty and ninety minutes after that last drink, the blood alcohol level continues to increase until

it reaches its peak and then goes down as it is eliminated from the body. App. 684, l. 21 – App. 686, l. 3.

Upon leaving the hospital, the police took Petitioner to the jail for administration of the DataMaster at 1:42 p.m. App. 336, ll. 15-17; App. 339, ll. 17-19.⁴ Next, the police took Petitioner to the jail where three officers interrogated him for approximately one hour. App. 298, l. 17 – App. 300, l. 2; App. 320, ll. 14-17; App. 427, ll. 20-25. The interrogation was audio recorded. App. 428, ll. 7-21. Perhaps unsurprisingly, Petitioner still smelled of alcohol. App. 501, ll. 18-20. After the police advised him of his rights, Petitioner agreed to speak with them. App. 436, ll. 5-8. During the interrogation, Petitioner repeatedly denied driving the car. App. 437, ll. 2-10. However, the police officers “felt ... he was holding something back.” App. 437, ll. 11-12; App. 445, ll. 4-9. One officer explained the feeling as akin to a saying from his grandfather – “that dog just doesn’t hunt.” App. 437, ll. 12-13. At one point during the interrogation, an officer told Petitioner it was time for him to help himself. App. 44, ll. 11-21. Approximately forty-two minutes into the interrogation at the jail, Petitioner said “it was a mistake.” App. 448, ll. 14-17; App. 505, ll. 21-23.

Additionally, the police executed a search warrant on his home and seized articles of clothing that Petitioner had been wearing the night before his arrest. App. 296, l. 7 – App. 298, l. 13; App. 413, ll. 11-19; App. 417, ll. 3-17. Unsurprisingly, the police found Petitioner’s DNA in the car. Petitioner’s DNA was found on the headliner and the airbag. App. 551, ll. 8-16.⁵

⁴ The breath test measured Petitioner’s alcohol level at 0.19. However, the judge ruled the breath test results were not admissible in light of the test occurring beyond the statutory two-hour period. App. 153, l. 13 – App. 155, l. 23.

⁵ Petitioner explained that the headliner hung down and regularly touched his forehead. App. 793, l. 22 – App. 794, l. 1.

Testing revealed the presence of DNA from an unidentified male on the airbag as well. App. 551, ll. 16-19.

On March 14, 2012, a Kershaw County grand jury indicted Petitioner for felony driving under the influence (DUI) involving death and leaving the scene of an accident involving death. App. 1140-1141; App. 1143-1144. On March 19-23, 2012, the state, represented by Brett Perry and Ron Moak, called the case for trial before the Honorable Thomas G. Cooper, Jr., and a jury. App. 1. Alex Postic and Derek Chiarenza represented Petitioner. App. 1.

After the state presented its evidence to the jury, Petitioner put up his defense. Sharla Overton, Petitioner's friend, recalled seeing Petitioner during the early morning hours of June 20, 2009, at a bar called Track Side on Two Notch Road in Columbia. App. 716, l. 14 – App. 717, l. 22. When Overton saw Petitioner, it was obvious he had been in a fight and she inquired about it. App. 718, ll. 4-7. He told her he was beat up by B.J. App. 718, ll. 2-3. When Overton and her husband were leaving Track Side, they saw Petitioner, Wright, and another person at Petitioner's car. App. 719, ll. 2-13; App. 720, ll. 2-23; App. 721, ll. 1-4. It appeared that Wright and the third person were helping Petitioner get into the car. App. 721, ll. 8-11. She was unable to say who got into the driver's seat, however. App. 721, ll. 13-14. She did notice another car following Petitioner's car. App. 721, ll. 17-18.

Tina Moore also saw Petitioner at Track Side. App. 732, ll. 14-18. She recalled Petitioner was intoxicated and got into a fight with another person at the bar. App. 733, ll. 2-5. She and her boyfriend persuaded Petitioner to leave, but he insisted on driving his car. App. 733, ll. 5-7. Finally, when Wright agreed to drive, Petitioner succumbed to his friends' requests that he not drive. App. 733, ll. 7-9. Moore and her boyfriend followed them. App. 733, ll. 10-11. When Wright and Petitioner stopped at a nearby store, Moore and her boyfriend did as well.

App. 733, ll. 11-13. Moore recalled that Wright purchased an 18-pack of Ice House beer. App. 733, ll. 14-15. They all left the store again with Moore following Wright and Petitioner. App. 733, ll. 17-18. When they were less than ten minutes from Petitioner's home, Moore and her boyfriend stopped following them so that they could check on their farm animals. App. 733, ll. 18-23. Approximately thirty minutes later, Moore and her boyfriend left the farm and went to Petitioner's home to check on him. App. 734, ll. 6-8. However, when they knocked on the door, no one answered and there was no car in the driveway. App. 734, ll. 6-13.

William "B.J." Lehman vividly remembered fighting Petitioner at Track Side on June 20, 2009. App. 739, l. 17 – App. 740, l. 5. Petitioner got "very mouthy" with Lehman and the two fought on the porch, just outside the bar. App. 740, ll. 4-12. Petitioner landed no punches, but Lehman hit him with his left hand just above his right eye. App. 740, ll. 13-19. The punch cut Petitioner's face. App. 740, ll. 19-20. Petitioner fell down, but continued to try to fight. App. 741, ll. 3-6. Finally, Petitioner's friend pulled him away, and Lehman walked to another bar not far away. App. 741, l. 15 – App. 742, l. 18.

On June 19, 2009, Petitioner got off from work at 11:30 p.m. App. 773, ll. 7-10. When he left work, he went home to tend to his dog before heading out for the night. App. 773, ll. 15-18. First, Petitioner went to Brixx, where his friend, Wright, worked. App. 773, ll. 18-21; App. 774, ll. 8-11. Although he did not eat there, he had several drinks. App. 773, l. 22 – App. 774, l. 4. As Petitioner was leaving, he and Wright agreed to meet up later in the night. App. 774, ll. 12-20.

Petitioner next went to Friends, a bar on Decker Boulevard. App. 774, ll. 21-25. He had more drinks there. App. 775, ll. 17-21. Then, Petitioner went to Track Side because Wright had called him asking to meet there. App. 775, l. 25 – App. 776, l. 15. Petitioner also recalled the

fight with Lehman. App. 776, l. 21 – App. 777, l. 11. Lehman hit Petitioner, knocking him to the ground, which was covered in gravel. App. 778, ll. 1-6. Petitioner was stumbling around, as was his friend, Wright. App. 778, ll. 7-10. Between 5 a.m. and 6 a.m., Petitioner decided to leave. App. 778, ll. 21-24.

When Petitioner tried to drive, his friends persuaded him that he was too intoxicated. App. 779, ll. 15-19. Eventually, Petitioner left Track Side with Wright driving his car. App. 779, ll. 23-25. When Petitioner and Wright arrived at Petitioner's home, Wright asked to borrow his car. App. 780, ll. 16-20. Petitioner readily agreed. App. 780, ll. 23-25. Petitioner then went into his home where he played with his dog before going to sleep. App. 781, l. 24 – App. 783, l. 6.

Sometime later, the police arrived at Petitioner's door. App. 784, ll. 4-8. At that time, Petitioner was "still very intoxicated," and at the time of trial, he had only vague memories of speaking to them. App. 784, ll. 16-21. He had no recollection of the police advising him of his rights at his home. App. 787, ll. 14-19. Petitioner was "shocked" when the police told him that his car had been involved in a wreck. App. 784, l. 22 – App. 785, l. 2. After the police arrested him and began the interrogation at the jail, Petitioner was scared and "still pretty drunk." App. 789, l. 4; App. 789, l. 24 – App. 790, l. 1. Petitioner "felt threatened" and "confused." App. 790, ll. 14-15. Despite his protestations, the three officers repeatedly told him he was driving the car when his friend died. App. 790, ll. 16-22; App. 791, ll. 21-25. Petitioner believed that the only way to stop the interrogation was "[b]y telling them what they wanted to hear" – that he was the driver. App. 791, ll. 11-14; App. 795, l. 23 – App. 796, l. 3.

At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. App. 941, ll. 7-17. Judge Cooper explained that he believed Petitioner "didn't intend for this to happen." App.

960, ll. 23-24. However, the judge found “some intent” because Petitioner “put himself in a position to allow this to happen.” App. 960, l. 24 – App. 961, l. 1. Judge Cooper also noted Petitioner’s sincere remorse. App. 961, ll. 19-20. He sentenced Petitioner to ten years’ imprisonment on each charge and a fine of \$10,100. App. 962, ll. 5-8; App. 1142; App. 1145. He ordered the sentences to be served concurrently. App. 962, l. 9; App. 1142; App. 1145.

Petitioner filed a direct appeal, which was perfected by Tommy A. Thomas. App. 964-978. Petitioner raised two issues on appeal. The first concerned whether the trial court erred in allowing evidence and testimony of the DataMaster process and video after determining that the test was given beyond the statutory two hour limitation. App. 964-978. The second issue argued that Petitioner’s audio-recorded statement should have been suppressed. App. 964-978. In its responsive brief, the state argued both issues were not preserved for appellate review. App. 979-1104. On November 5, 2014, the Court of Appeals held the issues were unpreserved. State v. Thigpen, 2014-UP-386 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Nov. 5, 2014); App. 1011-1012. Remittitur was sent on November 21, 2014. App. 1013.

On December 30, 2014, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 1014-1020. The state, represented by J. Clayton Mitchell, filed a return on June 4, 2015. App. 1021-1025. Through counsel, Tommy A. Thomas, Petitioner amended his PCR application on August 19, 2015. App. 1026-1027. The matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing on August 25, 2015 before the Honorable Tanya A. Gee. App. 1028. Thomas represented Petitioner, and Mitchell represented the state. App. 1028.⁶ Petitioner and Postic were the only witnesses. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Gee announced her ruling – she was denying Petitioner relief. App. 1121, l. 13 – App. 1128, l. 23. By an order dated October 15, 2015, Judge

⁶ At the beginning of the PCR hearing, Petitioner waived any claims of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, particularly in light of the fact that appellate counsel was representing him as PCR counsel. App. 1035, l. 18 – App. 1036, l. 21.

Gee formalized her ruling denying Petitioner relief from his convictions and sentences. App. 1130-1139.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance in derogation of Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights by failing to move to suppress Petitioner's incriminating statement to law enforcement based on the totality of the circumstances, including his level of intoxication.

Relevant facts

Trial

Immediately prior to trial, defense counsel moved to exclude Petitioner's audio-recorded statement to law enforcement. App. 85, ll. 23-24. After noting the police had advised Petitioner of his rights in the patrol car, trial counsel explained that one question before the court would be whether that advisement "controls all the way through to this final interview." App. 88, l. 23 – App. 89, l. 3. Additionally, trial counsel explained that Petitioner was "at the time severely intoxicated to the point of having a blood alcohol level at almost a .23 an hour after the initial Miranda, so we would say he would be too intoxicated to understand his rights at that point[]." App. 89, ll. 4-9. Trial counsel recognized "cases that say that the defendant must be almost knocked out to give an involuntary statement, which just doesn't make any sense." App. 89, ll. 17-21. However, looking at the "totality and the way this whole situation unfolded," with an unsophisticated defendant, and a six-hour time window, trial counsel argued the statement should be suppressed. App. 89, l. 22 – App. 90, l. 11. The judge ordered a hearing on the motion to suppress. App. 91, ll. 6-7.

Former Kershaw County Sheriff's Deputy John Slaten arrived at Petitioner's home to find him wearing a towel. App. 93, ll. 12-25. Slaten smelled "an odor of alcoholic beverage about his person" and observed that Petitioner "had the appearance of an intoxicated person."

App. 94, ll. 15-18; see also, App. 100, ll. 15-25. Using a card, Slaten advised Petitioner of his rights. App. 94, ll. 19-25.

State Trooper Patrick McKenzie arrested Petitioner while Slaten was questioning him. App. 102, ll. 12-21. McKenzie also advised Petitioner of his rights. App. 104, ll. 4-15. McKenzie agreed that Petitioner appeared heavily intoxicated. App. 105, ll. 2-6. McKenzie transported Petitioner to the hospital for a blood sample. App. 105, ll. 15-23. Then, McKenzie took Petitioner to jail where he conducted the DataMaster test, which was completed at 2:05 p.m. App. 106, ll. 3-12; App. 107, ll. 2-3.

After Petitioner was booked into the jail, Sergeant Monty Coats, Corporal O'Donnell and Sergeant Borowski interrogated him. App. 110, ll. 3-13. As part of the interrogation process, Coats advised Petitioner of his rights. App. 110, ll. 14-16. This interrogation was audio-recorded. App. 110, ll. 20-21. According to Coats, he could "smell the alcohol on him or coming from him." App. 111, ll. 22-23. Despite Petitioner's intoxication, Coats believed Petitioner "was coherent enough or able to respond to questions." App. 111, ll. 23-24. Coats and his team interrogated Petitioner for one hour and twenty minutes, ending at 5:20 p.m. App. 113, l. 20 – App. 114, l. 1. At the end of the grueling interrogation, Petitioner admitted to driving the car. App. 114, ll. 2-8. Coats explained that he used an interrogation technique with Petitioner during which Coats was initially very friendly with Petitioner, but then progressed to a much more forceful and aggressive interrogator. App. 117, ll. 5-19. In fact, Coats repeatedly told Petitioner that the police knew he was the driver in response to Petitioner's repeated protestations. App. 118, ll. 15-19.

Thomas Borowski, another state trooper, recalled that Petitioner "had an odor of alcohol about his person" when the police arrived at his home. App. 126, ll. 16-19. Based on his

twenty-eight years of law enforcement experience, Borowski was confident that Appellant was intoxicated. App. 126, l. 24 – App. 127, l. 9. However, Borowski believed Appellant's condition had improved later in the day when he and Coats interrogated him at the jail. App. 127, ll. 10-20; App. 131, ll. 2-8. Borowski opined that Petitioner understood his rights when they were explained to him at his home. App. 129, l. 23 – App. 130, l. 8.

Trial counsel argued that the advisement of rights given to Petitioner at the jail when he was the most cognizant of his rights were inadequate because the officer failed to advise Petitioner of the fifth prong of Miranda – that he can stop the interrogation at any time – pursuant to State v. Kennedy, 333 S.C. 426, 510 S.E.2d 714 (1998) *affirming* 325 S.C. 295, 479 S.E.2d 838 (Ct. App. 1997). App. 133, ll. 11-22. According to trial counsel, when Petitioner was interrogated at the jail, “his blood alcohol ha[d] gone down. His ability to comprehend ha[d] gone up.” App. 134, ll. 12-15. Trial counsel noted the “marked difference” in the way Petitioner spoke and answered questions during the interrogation in the afternoon versus the interrogation earlier in the day. App. 134, l. 20 – App. 135, l. 11. Trial counsel argued Petitioner's confession was involuntary as a result of the officer's failure to advise Petitioner of the fifth prong. App. 135, ll. 23-24; App. 145, l. 12 – App. 146, l. 3.

The state argued Florida v. Powell, 559 U.S. 50 (2010) controlled the issue. App. 140, ll. 17-19; App. 141, ll. 8-14. According to the prosecutor, the United States Supreme Court held that as long as the police “substantially advise” a suspect of “those four rights,” the warning was adequate and that “exact words” were unnecessary. App. 144, ll. 6-25. Thus, the prosecutor argued the warnings provided by Coats were adequate. App. 145, ll. 1-3.

The judge rejected trial counsel's argument on several grounds. First, the judge held that Petitioner had waived his rights earlier in the day and such waiver controlled the later

interrogation. App. 136, l. 20 – App. 137, l. 7; App. 143, ll. 4-17. The judge explained that provision of the warnings in the afternoon was “a futile act.” App. 129, l. 8. Additionally, the judge held the later warning was in compliance with the Supreme Court jurisprudence governing Miranda and the fifth prong was unnecessary. App. 146, ll. 11-19.

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