RECEIVED
DEC 21 2016
S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Kershaw County
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Tanya A. Gee, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015 – 002280
Lower Court Case No. 2014-CP-28-1207

Donnie R. Thigpen, #350243,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. CLAYTON MITCHELL
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar #101443

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

An objection to the admission of Petitioner's statement on the grounds that he was too intoxicated to freely and voluntarily give a statement would not warrant suppression because evidence of intoxication goes to the weight, not admissibility.

Petitioner argues the PCR Court erred in finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden in proving Counsel ineffective in failing to properly object to Petitioner's statement to law enforcement. Specifically, Petitioner argues Counsel was ineffective by failing to object based on the totality of the circumstances, including that he was too intoxicated to give a voluntary statement. Respondent submits Petitioner's statement was given voluntarily under the totality of the circumstances.

How The Issue Was Raised Below

Petitioner was convicted of Felony DUI and Hit and Run with a Death Resulting stemming from a single car accident involving his jeep where his friend, Melvin, was killed. (App. p. 202; p. 209-12). At trial, an extensive Jackson v. Denno hearing was held to determine the voluntariness of Petitioner's statements to law enforcement. (App. p. 86-146). At the Denno hearing, the State's witnesses testified to the following facts. Officers responded to the scene of the accident and determined that the vehicle belonged to Petitioner. (App. p. 212-13). Officers arrived at Petitioner's house between 11:00 am and 12:00 pm on June 20, 2009, to investigate the collision. (App. p. 93-95; p. 104). Petitioner had the odor of alcoholic beverage about his person and appeared to be intoxicated. (App. p. 94, lines 12-18). Officer Slaten read Petitioner his Miranda rights on the porch before speaking with him. (App. p. 94-95). Petitioner said he understood his rights, did not appear confused, and the police did not threaten or coerce him. (App. p. 95-97; p. 130). Petitioner agreed to talk to police; he denied any involvement in the collision. (App. p. 98; p. 130).

After determining that there was probable cause to arrest Petitioner for felony DUI, Trooper McKenzie took Petitioner into custody and placed him in his patrol car. (App. p. 102). The trooper Mirandized Petitioner again in the patrol car. (App. p. 102-103). Trooper McKenzie stated that Petitioner appeared to be under the influence when he spoke to him. (App. p. 105, lines 2-6). Petitioner continued to deny any involvement in the collision. (App. p. 105, lines 10-14).

Sergeant Coats, a member of the Multidisciplinary Accident Teams (M.A.I.T.), was called out to investigate the collision that day. (App. p. 109). After visiting the scene, he went to the jail to interview Petitioner. (App. p. 110). Sergeant Coats issued Petitioner his Miranda warnings before beginning the interview. (App. p. 110-11). The entire interview, which began at 5:20 pm and lasted approximately one hour and twenty minutes, was audio recorded. (App. p. 110-11; p. 113). Sergeant Borowski, who was also present at the interview, testified that, although he had observed Petitioner in an intoxicated state before noon that day, Petitioner had “sobered up a lot” by the time of the 5:20 pm interview. (App. p. 127-28; p. 131, lines 7-8). He testified that Petitioner’s condition had improved considerably. (App. p. 131, lines 5-7). Sergeant Borowski also testified that Petitioner understood what was going on at the time of the interview. (App. p. 127-29). Sergeant Coats agreed, stating that Petitioner was not threatened and that he had no reason to believe Petitioner was not acting of his own free will and accord. (App. p. 114-15). Sergeant Coats also testified that Petitioner could track the conversation they were having, was cognizant of what was going on, and understood everything that was said to him. (App. p. 116). Petitioner provided rational answers to questions, made arguments on his own behalf, and made corrections if incorrect information was relayed to him. (App. p. 112; p. 116; p. 130). During the interview, Petitioner provided an itinerary of his activities the night before the

collision and ultimately admitted that he had been driving the car at the time of the collision. (App. p. 114). He stated that he checked for the victim's pulse after the collision and found none. (App. p. 114, lines 9-10). Petitioner also stated that he "took full responsibility" for the collision. (App. p. 128, lines 19-21).

Following the pre-trial testimony of the four law enforcement officers, defense counsel stated he had no witnesses to present for the defense. (App. p. 133, lines 7-9). Counsel then reiterated his argument pursuant to State v. Kennedy¹. (See R. p. 133-35). As a part of this argument, he acknowledged that Petitioner, at the time of the 5:20 pm interview, was "understanding, his composition steadily improved, pretty good improvement from the beginning to the confinement when he is giving his statement and when he is at the detention center." (App. p. 133, lines 13-16). Counsel argued that, since Petitioner was "most cognizant of his rights" by the time of the 5:20 interview, he should have been given a complete Miranda warning. (App. p. 133, lines 17-22; p. 138-39). Counsel further acknowledged that the 5:20 interview was "clearly a different scenario" than the one earlier that day, and that it is clear that there is a "marked difference in the way [Petitioner] speaks and the way he answers those officers" at the 5:20 interview. (App. p. 134, lines 8-11; p. 135, lines 6-11). Counsel also stated Petitioner's "blood alcohol has gone down" and that his "ability to comprehend has gone up." (R. p. 134, lines 14-15). Counsel also asserted that Petitioner was promised leniency and help and told that he was facing up to fifty years in prison. (App. p. 135, lines 12-24).

The trial judge ultimately denied Petitioner's motion to suppress, finding that the Miranda warnings given to Petitioner before the 5:20 pm interview were appropriate. (See R. p. 136-46). Significantly, the trial judge pointed out that he had listened to the tape of Petitioner's

¹ State v. Kennedy, 325 S.C. 295, 479 S.E.2d 838 (Ct. App. 1996), *aff'd as modified*, 333 S.C. 426, 510 S.E.2d 714 (1998)

interview and did not find Petitioner's will was overborne or that his capacity for self-determination was critically impaired. (App. p. 137, lines 7-12). Subsequently, during trial, evidence regarding Petitioner's confession, including the audiotape of the interview, was admitted over defense counsel's objection. (See App. p. 321-22; p. 428-30; p. 433-34). Following his motion for directed verdict, defense counsel "renewed" his motion to suppress the confession. (See App. p. 700-709). After some discussion, the trial judge again denied the motion, pointing out that the confession was already in evidence and before the jury. (App. p. 709, lines 8-17). The trial judge later revisited the issue during the jury charge conference and reaffirmed his prior ruling with respect to State v. Kennedy. (See App. p. 824-30).

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner argued Counsel was ineffective for failing to properly object to the admissibility of Petitioner's statement where he admitted to driving the vehicle. Judge Gee denied relief and found Petitioner failed to meet his burden.

Relevant Law

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997). With respect to guilty plea counsel, the Applicant must show there is a reasonable probability that, but

for counsel's alleged errors, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985).

Analysis

Petitioner's argument that Counsel was ineffective in failing to effectively challenge Petitioner's statement is without merit. First, Counsel made the strategic decision not to challenge the admission of Petitioner's statement on the ground that he was too intoxicated to have freely and voluntarily given the confession. Second, even if this argument had been made, the trial court would likely have denied the motion to suppress.

When determining whether or not a statement is voluntary, the trial judge must conduct an evidentiary hearing, outside the presence of the jury. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145,162, 682 S.E.2d 19, 28 (Ct. App. 2009). During the evidentiary hearing, the State must prove the statement was voluntarily made by a preponderance of the evidence. Id. If the trial judge finds the statement voluntary and admissible, an appellate court will not reverse unless the decision was so erroneous as to demonstrate an abuse of discretion. Id. In other words, when reviewing a trial judge's ruling concerning voluntariness, the appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but instead determines whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence. State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 136, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001).

Here, Petitioner failed to meet his burden in proving Counsel was deficient in challenging the voluntariness of Petitioner's inculpatory statement. Counsel made the strategic decision to not challenge the statement on the grounds that Petitioner was too intoxicated to freely and voluntarily give the confession because the argument would have been meritless. Trial counsel cannot be found ineffective for failing to object to certain testimony where he articulates an

objectively reasonable strategy for not raising an objection. Rhodes v. State, 349 S.C. 25, 33, 561 S.E.2d 606, 610 (2002). As Counsel testified at the PCR hearing, he believed Saxon applied and that any challenge to the statement would be a challenge to the weight, not the admissibility. “The fact that one is intoxicated at the time a confession is made does not necessarily render him incapable of comprehending the meaning and effect of his words.” State v. Saxon, 261 S.C. 523, 529, 201 S.E.2d 113, 117 (1973). “Therefore, proof that an accused was intoxicated at the time he made a confession does not render the statement inadmissible as a matter of law, unless the accused’s intoxication was such that he did not realize what he was saying.” Id. Proof of intoxication short of rendering the accused unconscious of what he is saying, ‘goes to the weight and credibility to be accorded to the confession, but does not require that the confession be excluded by evidence.’ ” Id. (citing 29 Am.Jur (2d), Evidence, Section 577. Annotation: 69 A.L.R. (2 d) 361; 23 C.J.S. Criminal Law § 828, p. 229). Therefore, applying Saxon to the situation, it was reasonable for Counsel not to vigorously pursue the argument that Petitioner’s statement was given involuntarily because of his level of intoxication.

Petitioner asserts that this rule in Saxon was merely dicta. To the contrary, the issue before this Court in Saxon was whether the defendant had the mental capacity necessary to give a free and voluntarily statement despite his extreme intoxication. This Court held that proof of intoxication goes to the weight and not the admissibility of the statement. This rule goes directly to the issue and is therefore not dicta. This rule has been cited in other cases involving challenges to statements due to intoxication. See State v. Collins, 266 S.C. 566, 673, 225 S.E.2d 189, 193 (1976) (citing Saxon in ruling that the evidence regarding the defendant’s intoxicated condition at the time he made a statement to police “presented a factual situation which the judge determined unfavorably to the defendant. We cannot say he erred.”); State v. Morgan, 282 S.C.

409, 413, 319 S.E.2d 335, 337 (1984) (citing Saxon in ruling that the defendant's statement was voluntarily given even though he was intoxicated).

Even if this Court views the rule in Saxon as dicta, Petitioner failed to show under the totality of the circumstances that his statement was not freely and voluntarily made. Intoxication alone does not invalidate a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver. In State v. White², the Court held that a suspect voluntarily waived his Miranda rights when he was in hospital bed on four point restraints and had been given sodium pentothal five hours prior to the questioning.. The officers did not question the suspect until after they had given him the Miranda warnings. White seemed to understand what he said to them and be aware of why the troopers were there. "The fact that he had been under medication and was strapped to his bed was, at best, only a circumstance the trial court was to consider in determining voluntariness." Id. at 294-295, 428 S.E.2d at 743; see also Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157, 107 S.Ct. 515, 93 L.Ed.2d 473 (1986) (holding coercive police activity is a necessary predicate to a finding that a confession is not voluntary, and a defendant's mental condition by itself and apart from official coercion does not dispose of the issue of voluntariness); People v. Veloz, 946 P.2d 525 (Colo.App.1997) (finding that intoxicated defendant who was stumbling around was properly advised of his rights and made statements voluntarily); State v. Tribou, 488 A.2d 472 (Me.1985) (although defendant had been drinking and smoking marijuana on the day of incident, he was not intoxicated and was able to understand and voluntarily to waive his rights); State v. Finson, 447 A.2d 788 (Me.1982) (even a person heavily intoxicated is not necessarily incapable of waiving constitutional rights.

Petitioner testified at the PCR hearing that he was aware of his surroundings, understood that the investigators were questioning him about the death of his friend and they believed he was driving the vehicle. (App. p. 1080-81). This evidence shows Petitioner's will was not

² 311 S.C. 289, 294-95, 428 S.E.2d 740, 743 (Ct. App. 1993)

overborne and that he understood the investigators questions and answered them with a specificity and awareness that demonstrated he gave the statement freely and voluntarily. Petitioner cites numerous cases from other jurisdictions finding a defendant's level of intoxication can render a confession involuntary. The majority of these cases share a common rationale in that the time between the defendant's alcohol consumption and the defendant's statement to investigators was minimal. See United States v. Cellemme, 431 F. Supp. 731 (D. Mass 1977) (where gap between time of consumption and giving of statement was approximately three hours); State v. Williams, 208 So.2d 172 (Miss. 1968) (approximately 3-4 hours); State v. Anderson, 78 N.W.2d 320 (Minn. 1956) (approximately 2 hours). Here, the accident sometime between 5:00a.m. and 9:00a.m. (App. p. 504). Petitioner was arrested at 11:29 a.m. (App. p. 334). He gave the confession beginning at 5:20 p.m. (App. p. 85-91). So, at least eight (8) hours had passed since Petitioner had consumed any alcohol. Furthermore, it is apparent from the record that Petitioner's level of intoxication decreased drastically by the time he gave the confession. (App. p. 112-16; p. 127-31; p. 320, lines 7-13). Notably, at the PCR hearing Petitioner failed to cite any other circumstances that would render his statement involuntary. Therefore, even if this argument was raised to the trial court, there is not a reasonable probability that the statement would have been suppressed.

Accordingly, Respondent submits the record fully supports the PCR court's reasonable findings in this regard.


CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's ruling as there is ample evidence of probative value to support the PCR Court's denial of Petitioner's application. Should this Court grant Certiorari, Respondent requests permission under the rules to fully brief the issue discussed above.